
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

January 19, 2016  5:30 pm 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jan J. Moore 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman John Riggs 
  

3. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 01-05-2016 Council Minutes 
b) 01-05-2016 Executive Minutes 

B) Consideration of a Motion for the surplus and disposal of a 1998 Ford F-150 XLT extended cab 
truck, 1 2004 Cub Cadet riding mower and a 2004 Husqvarna riding mower. 

 
5. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve:  APPLICATION # SE 15-10-05:  ARCH 

Recovery, LLC requests a Special Exception pursuant to the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance to allow 
for the accommodation of three or more unrelated adults to reside at 109 Broad Street, utilizing the 
property as a Group Home (Tax Parcel # S29 000073 000). 

 
6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve:  APPLICATION # RZ 15-12-05:  Jarvis 

RW Barnes requests a zoning map amendment for .66 acres of property located at 0 Proctor Street 
from split zoning CR (Commercial Retail) / R15 (Single Family Residential) zoning districts to CR 
(Commercial Retail) zoning district to allow for the construction of a funeral home.  (Tax Parcel # 
S03 000019 000). 

 
7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to approve Applications SE # 15-10-01 and SE #15-

15-12-01: 
 

A.)  APPLICATION # SE 15-10-01:  Lawrence J. Zaslavsky requests a Special Exception 
pursuant to the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance to allow lower level floors to be utilized for 
residential and commercial uses. The subject site located at 116 Savannah Avenue is within the 
CBD (Central Business) zoning district allowing only residential uses to be permitted on upper 
floors by right (Tax Parcel # S28 000079 000). 

 
B.) APPLICATION # SE 15-12-01:   Lawrence J. Zaslavsky requests a Special Exception 
 pursuant to the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance as a companion case to case #SE 15-10-01 to 
allow lower level floors to be utilized for residential and commercial uses. The subject site  
located at 0 Broad Street is within the CBD (Central Business) zoning district allowing only 
residential uses to be permitted on upper floors by right (Tax Parcel # S28 000073 000). 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 
 

8.  Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Applications DSDA-001 and DSDA -003: 
 
A) APPLICATION #DSDA-001: John Ray Hendley requests the demolition of one (1) structure 
located at 218 South College Street. The subject site is within the jurisdiction of the Downtown 
Statesboro Design Standards, which does not permit the demolition of structures over 50 years of 
age without a finding of  necessity, per Article XXX of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance (Tax 
Parcel # S19 000050 000).  

 

B.) APPLICATION # DSDA-003: John Ray Hendley requests the demolition of a second 
structure located at 218 South College Street. The subject site is within the jurisdiction of the 
Downtown Statesboro Design Standards, which does not permit the demolition of structures over 
50 years of age without a finding of necessity, per Article XXX of the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance (Tax Parcel # S19 000050 000). 

 

10. Public Hearing and Consideration of  Motion to Approve Applications RZ 15-10-02, RZ 15-10-
03, and RZ 15-10-04. 

 
A.) APPLICATION # RZ 15-10-02: John Ray Hendley requests a zoning map amendment for 
.2 acres of property located at 218 South College Street from the CR (Commercial Retail) 
zoning district to R4 (High Density Residential District) zoning district (Tax Parcel # S19 
000050 000). 

 

B.) APPLICATION # RZ 15-10-03: John Ray Hendley requests a zoning map amendment for 
.17 acres of property located at 16 West Inman Street from the R3 (Medium Density Multiple 
Family Residential) zoning district to R4 (High Density Residential) zoning district (Tax Parcel 
# S19 000042 000). 

 

C.) APPLICATION # RZ 15-10-04: John Ray Hendley requests a zoning map amendment for 
.17 acres of property located at 0 West Inman Street from the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning 
district to R4 (High Density Residential) zoning district (Tax Parcel # S19 000051 000). 

 

11. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve APPLICATION # DSDA-002: John 
Ray Hendley requests the demolition of two (2) structures located at 215 South Walnut Street. The 
subject site is within the jurisdiction of the Downtown Statesboro Design Standards, which does 
not permit the demolition of structures over 50 years of age without a finding of necessity, per 
Article XXX of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance (Tax Parcel # S19 000039 000).  

 

 

 

 



 
 

  

12.  Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Applications RZ 15-12-02, RZ 15-12-
03, and RZ 15-12-04. 

 
A.) APPLICATION # RZ 15-12-02: Hendley Properties requests a zoning map amendment 
for roughly .2 acres of property located at 12 Bulloch Street from the R3 (Medium Density 
Residential) zoning district to R4 (High Density Residential) zoning district to construct one-
bedroom brick cottages (Tax Parcel # S19 000032 000). 

 

B.) APPLICATION # RZ 15-12-03: Hendley Properties requests a zoning map amendment 
for roughly .2 acres of property located at 14 Bulloch Street from the R3 (Medium Density 
Residential) zoning district to R4 (High Density Residential) zoning district to construct one-
bedroom brick cottages (Tax Parcel #  S19000031 000). 

 

C.) APPLICATION # RZ 15-12-04: Hendley Properties requests a zoning map amendment 
for .2 acres of property located at 18 Bulloch Street from the R3 (Medium Density 
Residential) zoning district to R4 (High Density Residential) zoning district to construct one-
bedroom brick cottages (Tax Parcel # S19 000030 000). 

 
13. Consideration of a Motion to Approve a Memorandum of Understanding between the City of 

Statesboro, the Downtown Development Authority, and the Averitt Center for the Arts 
transferring the America's Best Communities prize winnings to the City of Statesboro for 
administration and expenditure in support of the South Main Street / Blue Mile Revitalization 
Master Plan. 

 
14. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Agreement for Professional Services for "Blue Mile" 

Streetscape Project between the City of Statesboro and EMC Engineering Services, Inc. in an 
amount not to exceed $51,500 for surveying, planning, and grant purposes.  Services to be paid 
for by the 2015 America's Best Communities quarter finalist winnings. 

 
15. Consideration of a Motion to accept Resolution 2016-03: A Resolution accepting as a gift the 

conveyance of two parcels of real property from Anne Sognier Murray and Jessica Sognier 
Osborne, individually and as duly qualified Executors of the Last Will and Testament of 
Josephine Kennedy Osborne a/k/a Josephine K. Sognier Osborne." 

 
16. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2016-04: A Resolution requesting approval to 

develop documents for preparation of a 2016 community development block grant application. 
 
17. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2016:05: A Resolution Calling for the Re-

Establishment of the Downtown Statesboro Incentives Program.  
 
18. Consideration of a Motion to award a “Sole Source Purchase” to Xylem Water Solutions USA, 

Inc. in the amount of $34,291.80 for (4) MultiSmart Pump Controllers with spare replacement 
parts. This equipment is budgeted as CIP#WWD-150 in the amount of $130,000.00 of ATC 
funds. 



 
 

 
19. Other Business from City Council 

 
20. City Managers Comment: 

 
21. Public Comments (General) 

 
A) Jessica Szilagyi request to speak with Council 

 
B) Downtown Developer Alan Gross request to address Council regarding temporary vendors 
 

22. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” and/or 
“Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 

 
23. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Council Minutes 
January 05, 2016 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on January 05, 2016 at 9:00 a.m. in 
the Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jan J. Moore, Council Members: Phil 
Boyum, Sam Lee Jones, Jeff Yawn, John Riggs and Travis Chance.  Also present were Deputy 
City Manager Robert Cheshire, City Clerk Sue Starling, City Attorney Alvin Leaphart, Director 
of Public Works and Engineering Jason Boyles and Director of Planning and Development 
Mandi Cody.    
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Jan J. Moore 
The Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was given by Mayor Jan Moore 
 
Oath of Office Administrated by Bulloch County Probate Judge Lee Deloach for: 
 
a) District 2 Council Member Sam Lee Jones 
b) District 3 Council Member Jeff Yawn 
c) District 5 Council Member Travis Chance 
 
Judge Lee Deloach swore in the newly elected Council members. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to appoint a Mayor Pro Tem for the next two years, per the 
Statesboro Municipal Code, Section 2-4 of the City Charter. 
 
Councilmen Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Boyum to appoint Councilman 
Travis Chance as Mayor Pro Tem. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. Councilman Riggs also stated he would 
like to see the Councilmembers serve one year as Mayor Pro Tem to allow others an opportunity 
to serve a term. 
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations  
 

A) Presentation of the “5K Run the Boro” with proceeds going to the Open 
Hearts Community Mission 

B) “Proclamation Congratulating Georgia Southern University on the Football 
Team's First Bowl Win". 

 
Director of Human Resource and Mayor Moore presented the Open Hearts Community Mission 
with a check for $8,350.00 which was the proceeds from the “5K Run the Boro”. 
 
Mayor Moore presented a proclamation announcing the Georgia Southern University Football 
Team's First Bowl Win". GSU Athletic Director Tom Kleinlein accepted the proclamation. 



 
 

The semi-finalist for “Americas Best Community” will be announced at noon on January 13th, 
2016 at the Black Box Theatre on West Main St. 
 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 12-01-2015 Council Minutes 
b) 12-01-2015 Executive Session Minutes 

 
B) Consideration of a motion for the surplus and disposal of a 1999 Ford truck 

in the Street Division of the Public Works & Engineering Department. 
 

C) Consideration of a motion for the surplus and disposal of a 2001 Dodge Ram 
truck in the Parks Division of the Public Works & Engineering Department. 

 
D) Consideration of a motion for the surplus and disposal of a 2002 HP Design 

Jet 800 printer in the Engineering Division of the Public Works & 
Engineering Department. 

 
E) Consideration of a Motion to approve Special Event permit 

a)  Georgia Southern Museum- Five course gourmet dinner benefit 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to approve the consent 
agenda in its entirety. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Administrative Hearing for alleged alcohol violation as pursuant to the City of Statesboro 
Alcohol Ordinance: Chapter 6 Sec. 6-159 – Ration of alcoholic/nonalcoholic sales. Should 
the total sales from food and nonalcoholic beverages reported by any licensee for 
consumption on the premises not equal those from the sale of all alcoholic beverages for 
any two reporting periods in any 12-month period, the license may be suspended or 
revoked by the Mayor and City Council. 
 

A) Joshua R Ledford 
Rusty’s Tavern 
15 University Plaza 
 
 

Mayor Moore conducted the hearing and all participants were sworn in by Mayor Moore. 
 
Mr. Ledford, owner of Rusty’s Tavern waived his right to a hearing and agreed to the violation 
of Chapter 6 Sec. 6-159 – Ration of alcoholic/nonalcoholic sales. The total sales from food and 
nonalcoholic beverages reported by Mr. Ledford for consumption on the premises did not equal 
those from the sale of all alcoholic beverages for two quarters in a twelve month period.   
 



 
 

Bob Mikell spoke on behalf of Mr. Ledford stating that he would like for Mayor and Council to 
consider this a first violation.  Mr. Mikell stated that Mr. Ledford runs a responsible business and 
last fall voluntary went to 21 and over before there was any issue. Mr. Ledford has purchased ID 
scanners and his employees are participating in the TIPS certification program.  Mr. Ledford 
would like to urge Council to seriously consider the proposed Ordinance and adopt some type of 
regulated bar category that is 21 and up.   
 
Moore then asked for a motion and Mr. Ledford agreed that based on the evidence presented 
here today that Council finds that the licensee, did violate 6-159 of the Code of Ordinances of the 
City of Statesboro regarding the ration of alcoholic to nonalcoholic sales for two quarters in a 
twelve month period.  Councilman Boyum made the motion seconded by Councilman Chance to 
accept the guilty plea from Mr. Ledford. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance 
voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
For the penalty of the violation, Councilman Boyum made a motion seconded by Councilman 
Riggs to consider this a first offense with a warning. Councilman Boyum, Jones Yawn, Riggs 
and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote.  
 
Return of vetoed Ordinance 2015-13 to the City Council for reconsideration as required by 
Section 4-1(c) of the City Charter. 
 
There was no motion on this item. Therefore the item dies. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve Ordinance 2016-01: An Ordinance to amend the 
City of Statesboro definition of Final Average Earnings (FAE) so that the calculation is 
based on the sixty (60) consecutive months of credited service preceding a participant’s 
most recent termination in which the Participant’s Earnings were highest. 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve Ordinance 
2016-01: An Ordinance to amend the City of Statesboro definition of Final Average Earnings 
(FAE) so that the calculation is based on the sixty (60) consecutive months of credited service 
preceding a participant’s most recent termination in which the Participant’s Earnings were 
highest. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2016- 01:  A Resolution appointing Van 
Collins as the Project Superintendent for the 2010 Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds. 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve Resolution 
2016- 01:  A Resolution appointing Van Collins as the Project Superintendent for the 2010 
Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Consideration of a Motion to Resolution 2016-02: A Resolution adopting the Standard 
Operating Procedures regarding information derived from the Georgia Crime Information 
Center (CGIC) Criminal Justice Information System (CJIS) network. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve Resolution 
2016-02: A Resolution adopting the Standard Operating Procedures regarding information 
derived from the Georgia Crime Information Center (CGIC) Criminal Justice Information 
System (CJIS) network. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of 
the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between 
the City of Statesboro, DCA and the DSDA for the 2016 Georgia Classic Main Streets 
Program 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to approve a Memorandum 
of Understanding (MOU) between the City of Statesboro, DCA and the DSDA for the 2016 
Georgia Classic Main Streets Program. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance 
voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award the purchase of a roadway crack sealer machine per 
the HGAC to Crafco, Inc. in the amount of $53,672.53. This item is budgeted as CIP# 
ENG-STS 108 in the amount of $55,000. This item will be utilized by our Streets Division of 
Public Works. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to award the purchase of a 
roadway crack sealer machine per the HGAC to Crafco, Inc. in the amount of $53,672.53. This 
item is budgeted as CIP# ENG-STS 108 in the amount of $55,000. Councilman Boyum, Jones, 
Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the "Statesboro Police Department Towing Rotation 
Agreement" template for use by the Statesboro Police Department to regulate towing 
companies performing towing services at the request of the Statesboro Police Department. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve the "Statesboro 
Police Department Towing Rotation Agreement" template for use by the Statesboro Police 
Department to regulate towing companies performing towing services at the request of the 
Statesboro Police Department. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Other Business from City Council 
 
Councilman Boyum stated he would like to get back to the alcohol ordinance and look at the bar 
category, 50/50 report, no Sunday sales and administration or staff duties as it relates to an 
alcohol ordinance. There will be a work session on January 19th, 2016 at 4:00 pm and a work 
session on February 2nd at 5:00 pm. 
Councilman Riggs stated he had received a report from the Police Department that showed crime 
was down. 



 
 

Mayor Moore stated she had attended the funeral of Sgt. McBride and thanked the Police and 
Fire Department for their participation in the funeral. She also stated it was a very moving 
experience. 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to appoint Councilman Jeff 
Yawn as the voting delegate for the Georgia Municipal Association Conference meeting to be 
held on Sunday January 24th, 2016 in Atlanta. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and 
Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
City Managers Comments 

A) City Clerk's Dept. (Notice of alcohol application) 
                 a)"Coconut Thai Cuisine" is applying for an alcohol license pending the 
                background investigation.  The owner will be Kamolwan Kawpunna.  
                Ownership change 

B)"Holiday Pizza" is applying for an alcohol license pending the background  
     investigation.  The owners will be John Kalloniatis and Mark Brandon 

                 O'Mahoney. 
B) "Parkers #57" is applying for an alcohol license pending the background 
      investigation.  The owners will be Gregory M Parker, Terri Heidmann,  
      and Patricia Sweat.  The manager will be Amy Mae Lane. 

 
Acting City Manager Robert Cheshire read the notifications for alcohol applications. He also 
stated a revised ordinance was being prepared for the downtown incentive plan. 
 
City Engineer Brad Deal updated Council on the Hawk signal and the drainage issues on 
Fletcher Drive. 
 
Public Comments (General) 

A) Amber Fiske request to address Council with concerns regarding Fletcher Drive. 
 
Ms. Amber Fiske continued to address Council with the drainage on Fletcher Drive. She was 
appreciative of the work that has been done but feels there should be additional plans for 
drainage and traffic control. 
 
Mayor Moore announced the reception for the newly elected Councilmembers was being held 
downstairs in the lobby at City Hall. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters”   
in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 
At 10:25 am, Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to enter into 
Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters”   in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 
(2012). Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 



 
 

At 10:48 am, Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to exit 
Executive Session. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Mayor Moore called the regular meeting back to order. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to adjourn the meeting. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:50 am. 





















































































































































































 

Memorandum of Understanding 
 
 WHEREAS, the Averitt Center for the Arts, The Downtown Statesboro Development 
Authority, and the City of Statesboro (“the Partners”) have come together to collaborate and to 
make an application for the America’s Best Communities Competition and award funding; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Partners have agreed to enter into a collaborative agreement in which the 
Averitt Center for the Arts will be the lead agency named applicant and the City of Statesboro 
will be the primary partner and beneficiary of this application; and  
 

WHEREAS, the partners submitted an application on behalf of the City of Statesboro and 
were named as quarter finalist winners in the America’s Best Communities competition; and 

 
WHEREAS, as the America’s Best Communities competition issued $50,000 in quarter prize 

award winnings to the Averitt Center for the Arts as lead agency named on the application; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority contributed $15,000 of local 

matching funds as required by the America’s Best Communities competition; and 
 
WHEREAS, additional award funding and prize monies may be awarded to the Partners in 

the America’s Best Communities Competition; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro, Downtown Statesboro Development Authority, and the 

Averitt Center for the Arts have a very positive, pro-partnership relationship and have worked 
together with other private partners to continue in the America’s Best Communities competition 
for possible additional award funding; and 

 
WHEREAS, the collaborative has determined that the highest and best use of the award 

funds are in support of the “BLUE MILE” effort, also known as the South Main Street 
revitalization effort; and have submitted application in support thereof to the America’s Best 
Communities Competition; and 

 
WHEREAS, the partners herein desire to enter into a Memorandum of Understanding 

setting forth the administration and expenditure of the award funding and services to be 
provided by the collaborative; and  
 

WHEREAS, the term of this MOU will continue until the final completion of the award project 
sand all financial obligations have been met.   

 
NOW THEREFORE, the Partners hereby agree as follows: 
 

 
Roles and Responsibilities 
 

1. The total funding amount awarded by the America’s Best Communities Competition and 
any local matches provided by the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority for this 
competition’s purposes made to the Averitt Center for the Arts will be accounted for, 
administered, and maintained by the City of Statesboro in accordance with the rules of 
the competition and the financial policies and requirements of the City of Statesboro. 
 

2. The total funding amount awarded by the America’s Best Communities Competition and 
any local matches will be transferred to the City of Statesboro for purposes represented 
in the competition application. 
 



 

3. All parties acknowledge that an amount of award funds have been expended to date by 
the Averitt Center for the Arts in support of the America’s Best Communities competition.  
An accounting of these funds, a net available amount, and a transfer of said amount will 
be made available to the City of Statesboro upon execution of this agreement. 
 

4. The Averitt Center for the Arts shall transfer any additional award winnings from the 
America’s Best Communities competition to the City of Statesboro immediately upon 
receipt. 
 

5. The City of Statesboro will execute the projects represented in the competition materials 
and will provide the Averitt Center for the Arts with all materials needed for reporting to 
the America’s Best Communities competition from the date of transfer forward. 
 

6. The City of Statesboro will provide an annual accounting of the award funds received 
and expended, and the nature and amount of said expenditures, to the Averitt Center for 
the Arts on an annual basis until the expenditure of all award funds is complete. 
 

7. The parties further agree that at the transfer of any award amounts, any duty of the 
Averitt Center for the Arts to the other parties to this Memorandum of Understanding 
shall be discharged.  The City of Statesboro agrees that it will be solely responsible for 
the remainder of the grant funds upon receipt and that it shall warrant that its use of the 
funds will fully comply with the requirements of the competition and shall hold harmless 
the Averitt Center for the Arts, its officers and board member, from any and all claims for 
any loss or damage related to the America’s Best Communities competition and award 
funding and matching funds and shall make itself available for any reference or 
assistance in case any concern or question shall arise in regard to any award or 
matched funds.  

 
By: Averitt Center for the Arts    By: City of Statesboro  
 
____________________________   _____________________________ 
Tim Chapman      Mayor Jan J. Moore 
Executive Director 
        
____________________________   _____________________________ 
Jenny Foss      Attest:  Sue Starling, City Clerk 
Chairman of the Board    
  
  
By: Downtown Statesboro Development Authority 
 
________________________ 
Allen Muldrew 
Executive Director  
 
_________________________ 
Bob Mikell 
Chairman of the Board 













RESOLUTION 2016-03: A RESOLUTION  
 

THAT WHEREAS, Section 1-2 of the Charter of the City of Statesboro provides that the Mayor 
and City Council can receive, possess, and retain to themselves and their successors in office, for the use 
and benefit of the City of Statesboro, in perpetuity or for any term of years, any estate or estates, real or 
personal, of every kind and nature, inside or outside the corporate limits for corporate purposes; 
 

WHEREAS, Anne Sognier Murray and Jessica Sognier Osborne, individually and as duly qualified 
Executors of the Last Will and Testament of Josephine Kennedy Osborne a/k/a Josephine K. Sognier 
Osborne desire to convey and dedicate as a gift two parcels of certain real property to the Mayor and 
City Council of Statesboro;  
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council desire to accept as a gift this conveyance and dedication 
of two parcels of certain real property from Anne Sognier Murray and Jessica Sognier Osborne, 
individually and as duly qualified Executors of the Last Will and Testament of Josephine Kennedy 
Osborne a/k/a Josephine K. Sognier Osborne; 

 
WHEREAS, the Bulloch County Board of Tax Assessors values one of these two parcels at SIXTY 

TWO THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($62,500.00) for the 2015 Tax Year, and the other of these 
two parcels at NINETY TWO THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED DOLLARS ($92,800) for the 2015 Tax Year; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia as follows: 
 

Section 1.  That Mayor and City Council hereby accepts as a gift the conveyance and dedication 
of the two parcels of real property more particularly described in the Deed of Gift attached as Exhibit A 
to this resolution.  

 
Section 2: The Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to execute appropriate legal 

instruments accepting the conveyance of title to this property to the Mayor and City Council of 
Statesboro. 

  
Section 3.  That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of adoption 

 
                                                                                                                         Adopted this ___st day of ____, 2016 
 
                                                                                                                         CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
                                                                                                                       _____________________________ 
                                                                                                                              By: Jan J. Moore, Mayor   
 
 
                                                                                                                       _____________________________ 
                                                                                                                            Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk               
 



After recording, return to: 
Wright & Edwards, P.C. 
P.O. Box 446 
Statesboro, Georgia  30459 

********************************************************************************* 
STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF BULLOCH 

DEED OF GIFT 

THIS INDENTURE, made this _____ day of ___________________, Two Thousand 

Fifteen, between ANNE SOGNIER MURRAY and JESSICA SOGNIER OSBORNE, individually 

and as the duly qualified Executors of the Last Will and Testament of JOSEPHINE KENNEDY 

OSBORNE a/k/a JOSEPHINE K. SOGNIER OSBORNE, deceased, of the County of Chatham, and 

State of Georgia, as party or parties of the first part, hereinafter called Grantor, and THE MAYOR 

AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA, as party or parties of the 

second part, hereinafter called Grantee (the words “Grantor” and “Grantee” to include their 

respective heirs, successors and assigns where the context requires or permits.) 

WITNESSETH that:  Grantor, for and in consideration of natural love and affection has 

granted, bargained, sold, aliened, conveyed and confirmed, and by these presents does grant, 

bargain, sell,  alien, convey and confirm unto the said Grantee, all the following described property, 

to-wit: 

PARCEL “A”:  All that certain parcel of land lying and being in the 1209th G.M.D., 
Bulloch County, City of Statesboro, Georgia containing 3.92 acres and being more 
particularly described according to a plat prepared by Maxwell-Reddick & 
Associates, Inc., dated February 20, 2007, recorded in Plat Book _____, Page _____, 
Bulloch County records, which reads as follows: 

Exhibit A



COMMENCING at a point at the intersection of the eastern right-of-way of 
Zetterower Avenue and the southern right-of-way of U.S. Highway No. 301, 
THENCE northeasterly along  the right-of-way of U.S. Highway No. 301 a distance 
of 352’ to a one inch iron pipe found (1” IPF); THENCE along the right-of-way of 
U.S. Highway No. 301 counterclockwise on the arc of a curve (Radius 5695.179’) 
which subtends a chord of North 64°18’19” East a distance of 100.16’ to a three 
quarter inch iron pipe found (3/4” IPF); THENCE along the right-of-way North 
62°25’33” East a distance of 200.19’ to a one and one-half inch iron pipe found (1 
½” IPF); THENCE along the right-of-way North 60°20’17” East a distance of 
299.79’ to a three quarter inch iron pipe found (3/4” IPF); THENCE along the right-
of-way North 59°55’46” East a distance of 200.02’ to a one and one-half inch iron 
pipe found (1 ½” IPF) which is the POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
BEGINNING at said one and one-half inch iron pipe found (1 1/2” IPF), THENCE 
along the right-of-way of U.S. Highway No. 301 North 60°03’21” East a distance of 
429.05’ to a axle found; THENCE South 03°01’50” East a distance of 205.86’ to a 
rebar found (RBF); THENCE South 03°02’11” East a distance of 562.51’ to a one 
and one-half inch iron pipe found (1 ½” IPF); THENCE North 66°21’45” West a 
distance  of 140.21’ to a three quarter inch iron pipe found (3/4” IPF); THENCE 
North 29°45’00” West a distance of 572.35’ to a one and one-half inch iron pipe 
found (1 1/2” IPF) which is the POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
Said parcel bound as follows:  NORTH by the southern right-of-way of U.S. 
Highway No. 301; EAST by lands of Harold & Doris Best and lands of Jimmy E.  
Hendrix; SOUTH by lands of the City of Statesboro; and WEST by lands of Penn E. 
Myrick, Inc. 
 
The above referenced plat and the description thereon is incorporated herein  for all 
purposes of this description. 
 
PARCEL “B”:  All that certain parcel of land lying and being in the 1209th G.M.D., 
Bulloch County, City of Statesboro, Georgia containing 1.26 acres and being more 
particularly described according to a plat prepared by Maxwell-Reddick & 
Associates, Inc., dated February 20, 2007, recorded in Plat Book _____, Page _____, 
Bulloch County records, which reads as follows:  
 
COMMENCING at a point at the intersection of the eastern right-of-way of 
Zetterower Avenue and the southern right-of-way of U.S. Highway No. 301, 
THENCE northeasterly along  the right-of-way of U.S. Highway No. 301 a distance 
of 352’ to a one inch iron pipe found (1” IPF) which is the POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
BEGINNING at said one inch iron pipe found (1” IPF), THENCE along the right-of-
way of U.S. Highway No. 301 counterclockwise on the arc of a curve (Radius 
5695.179’) North 64°18’19” East a chord distance of 100.16’ to a three quarter inch 
iron pipe found (3/4” IPF); THENCE South 29°10’33” East a distance of 193.26’ to 
a one-half inch iron pipe found (1/2” IPF) on the right-of-way of Best Street; 



THENCE along the right-of-way of Best Street, South 21°11’42” West a distance of 
365.71’ to a one inch iron pipe found (1” IPF); THENCE North 78°19’20” West a 
distance of  24.89’ to a three quarter inch iron pipe found (3/4” IPF); THENCE North 
03°26’40” West a distance of 159.66’ to a one inch iron pipe found (1” IPS); 
THENCE North 03°27’55” West a distance of 302.44’ to a one inch iron pipe found 
(1” IPF) which is the POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
Said parcel bound as follows:  NORTH by the southern right-of-way of U.S. 
Highway No. 301; EAST by lands of Carrie L. Finch and the eastern right-of-way of 
Best Street; SOUTH by lands of Brenda Gail Lucree and the western right-of-way of 
Best Street; and WEST by lands of Ruby Bland and Brenda Gail Lucree. 
 
The above referenced plat and the description thereon is incorporated herein  for all 
purposes of this description. 
 
This deed was prepared at the direction of Grantor without the benefit of a title 
examination. No certification is made by Wright & Edwards, P.C. as to the title of 
the aforesaid property. 
 
TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the said tract or parcel of land, with all and singular the rights, 

members and appurtenances thereof, to the same being, belonging, or in anywise appertaining, to the 

only proper use, benefit and behoof of the said Grantee forever in FEE SIMPLE. 

AND THE SAID Grantor will warrant and forever defend the right and title to the above 

described property unto the said Grantee against the claims of all persons whomsoever. 

IN  WITNESS  WHEREOF, the Grantor has signed and sealed this deed, the day and year 

above written. 

Signed, Sealed and Delivered  
in the Presence of: 
 
______________________________  ________________________________(Seal) 
Unofficial Witness     ANNE SOGNIER MURRAY, individually 

and as the duly qualified Executor of the Last  
______________________________  Will and Testament of JOSEPHINE 
Notary Public      KENNEDY OSBORNE a/k/a JOSEPHINE 
       K. SOGNIER OSBORNE 
 
 
 

***Signatures Continued on Next Page*** 



Signed, Sealed and Delivered  
in the Presence of: 
 
______________________________  ________________________________(Seal) 
Unofficial Witness     JESSICA SOGNIER OSBORNE, individually 

and as the duly qualified Executor of the Last  
______________________________  Will and Testament of JOSEPHINE 
Notary Public      KENNEDY OSBORNE a/k/a JOSEPHINE 
       K. SOGNIER OSBORNE 
 
ACCEPTED BY GRANTEE:  MAYOR AND CITY OF COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
_______________________                          By:      ____________________________ (Seal) 
Unofficial Witness                                                     Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 
 
_______________________                          Attest: ____________________________ (Seal) 
Notary Public                                                             Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 



 
Resolution 2016-04: A RESOLUTION REQUESTING APPROVAL TO DEVELOP 

DOCUMENTS FOR CONSIDERATION OF SUBMITTAL FOR A 2016 COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT APPLICATION. 

 
THAT WHEREAS, the Georgia Department of Community Affairs has announced the availability of 2016 

Community Development Block Grant funding, commonly known as CDBG funds, which may be utilized for 
infrastructure improvements benefiting low to moderate income residents of the City of Statesboro; and 

 
WHEREAS, City staff has identified the following areas as being need of storm-water and other possible 

infrastructure improvements: Kent Street, Lovett Street, Bryant Street, Floyd Street, and James Street; and 
 
WHEREAS, certain expenditures, staff efforts, public notices, hearings, and resident surveys are required 

in the preparation and analysis of an application for a Community Development Block Grant; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia in regular 

session assembled this 19th day of January 2016, as the governing body for the City of Statesboro, Georgia, that the 
preparation of application materials for a 2016 Community Development Block Grant application, is hereby 
approved; and  

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that prior to the submission of the final 2016 Community Development 

Block Application City staff shall submit an additional resolution for approval of Mayor and Council authorizing 
the submission of the application and identifying City of Statesboro commitments being made in said application, 
including matching and leveraged fund amounts and in kind contributions. 

 
Adopted this January 19, 2016. 

 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 

_______________________________ 
By: Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

 
 

_______________________________ 
Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 



 
 
 
 
 
TO:  Mr. Robert Cheshire, Acting City Manager   
 
FR:  Mandi Cody 
 
Date:  January 14, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: Renewal DSDA Incentive Plan 
 
Attached please find the 2016 Resolution to adopt the Incentive Program for the Downtown 
Statesboro area.  As you know, the previous program(s) expired on November 1, 2015.  This 
Resolution is intended to re-establish the program, effective upon adoption of Council, for a three (3) 
year period.  This Resolution has been vetted by the DSDA and City permitting staff and is designed 
to be read independently of the previous adoptions.   
 
The Incentive program has remain unchanged with the following exceptions: 

1.  Clarity was added that the program applied to both sides of each street named within the   
boundaries. 

2. A cap was placed on combined tap fee incentives at $25,000. 
3. Single Family residential projects were expressly included in the program. 
4. The abatement for alcohol license fees for the second year of business was removed from 

the program. 

50 East Main Street  P.O. Box 348  » (912) 764-0630 
Statesboro, Georgia 30458 Statesboro, Georgia 30459 » (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 City of Statesboro 
Department of Community Development Memorandum 



 Resolution 2016-05: Resolution Calling for the Re-Establishment of the Downtown Statesboro 
Incentives Program. 

WHEREAS, the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority demonstrated to the Mayor and City 
Council of Statesboro that the growth and development of Downtown Statesboro suffered significantly 
during the recent period of economic recession; and 

WHEREAS, the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority proposed that development incentives be 
enacted by the City of Statesboro to encourage growth, revitalization, housing, business development, 
and revitalization within the jurisdiction of the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro adopted the recommended incentive program on October 19, 2010; 
and renewed and amended said program on July 9, 2011 and July 3, 2012; and  

WHEREAS, the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority finds that the incentive program adopted 
on said dates contributed significantly toward new growth, development, and revitalization in both 
residential and commercial sectors of the economy within the Downtown Statesboro Development 
Authority’s jurisdictional boundaries; and  

WHEREAS, the term of the Downtown Statesboro Incentive Program expired on November 1, 2015; and 

WHEREAS, the Downtown Development Authority finds that sufficient need for growth and 
revitalization still exists in the downtown area; and  

WHEREAS, the Downtown Development Authority finds that the previously enacted Downtown 
Incentive Program contributed significantly to the growth, development, and revitalization of the 
Downtown jurisdiction while effective; 

WHEREAS, the Downtown Development Authority finds that that the re-establishment of the 
Downtown Incentive Program is essential to continued growth and development of the downtown area; 

NOW THEREFORE, the City of Statesboro adopts the findings of the Downtown Statesboro Development 
Authority; and 

IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Council of the City of Statesboro that a Downtown 
Statesboro Incentives Program be re-established to continue encouragement of development of 
additional business and housing opportunities within the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority; 
and adopts the following Downtown Incentive Program: 

 

1.  The boundaries of the Downtown Statesboro Incentives Program are the jurisdictional 
boundaries of the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority, which are described as 
follows: starting at the intersection of Tillman Road and South College Street, then heading 
Northeast on Tillman Street to Zetterower Avenue, then heading north on Zetterower Avenue to 
Cherry Street, then east on Cherry Street to Donaldson Street to Savannah Avenue, west on 



Savannah Avenue to Crescent Avenue, then north on Crescent Avenue to Zetterower Avenue, 
then traveling north on Zetterower Avenue to Northside Drive / US Highway 80, then west on 
Northside Drive / US Highway 80 to North College Street, then South on North College Street to 
West main Street, then west on West Main Street,, then South on Martin Luther King, Jr. 
Boulevard to West Grady Street, then East on West Grady Street to South College Street, then 
South on South College Street and ending at Tillman Street.   
 
Incentive application shall apply to both sides of the roads named within this boundary 
description. 
 

2. Applicable fees, taxes, and other cost that are not expressly waived or reduced herein shall be 
applied as directed within the latest Schedule of Fees as adopted by the City of Statesboro 
Mayor and Council. 
 

3. The Downtown Incentives Program shall expire three (3) years from the date of adoption of this 
Resolution. 
 

4. The following fees and taxes shall be waived for the initial start up year of any newly formed 
business locating and establishing itself within the boundaries of the Downtown Incentive 
Program: 

a. Occupational Taxes and Administrative Fees; 
b. Building Permit Fees for renovation and construction up to $1,000 in fees; 
c. Natural Gas Connection fees; 
d. Initial tap fees, including but not limited to water, sewer, fire and irrigation taps, up 

to $25,000; and 
e. Alcohol license fees for the initial year of operation. 
f. Waiver of fees shall not include fees associated with Land Disturbance Activity 

Permit Application (also known as a grading permit) fees, or Aid to Construction 
fees. 

  
5. The following fees shall be waived for the construction, renovation, or rehabilitation of 

commercial and residential structures within the Downtown Incentive Program boundaries: 
a. Demolition Permit Fees; 
b. Building Permit Fees up to $1,000; 
c. Initial connection of Natural Gas services; 
d. Sewer and Water Tap Fees up to $1,000;  
e. Initial tap fees, including but not limited to water, sewer, fire and irrigation taps, up to 

$25,000; and 
f. Waiver of fees shall not include fees associated with Land Disturbance Activity Permit 

Application (also known as a grading permit) fees, or Aid to Construction fees. 

 



 
6. To further aid in the economic recovery, redevelopment, and sustainability of the Downtown 

Statesboro Incentive Program, projects meeting the objectives, visions, and goals of the 2011 
Downtown Statesboro Master Plan and the 2014 City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan, may 
be considered for additional incentives by the Mayor and City Council for the City of Statesboro.  
A request for the waiver of additional fees, and the justification for the additional waiver, shall 
be submitted on a per project basis to the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority and 
the City of Statesboro Director of Planning & Development or review and presentment of 
recommendation to the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro. 

So Adopted this 19th day of January, 2016. 

 

__________________________________ 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

 

Attest: 

__________________________________ 

Sue Starling, Clerk 

 








	01-19-2016 Council Agendas
	01-05-2016 Council minutess
	01-2016 Surplus January 2016 Truck-mower
	01-2016 Planning and Development
	01-2016 MOU-Averitt Center
	01-2016 EMC Letter Agreement (1) (1)
	01-2016-03  RESOLUTION  Murray property (1)
	01-2016-03 Exhibit A-Murray, Osborne DOG property
	01-2016-04 Grant Resolution for Application Preparation
	01-2016-05 DSDA Incentive Amendment Memo 1-19-16
	01-2016-05 DSDA Incentive Resolution 1-19-16
	01-2016 Sole Source Pump Station upgrade

